RECEIVED

Dec 17 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Hon. Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000890
Lower Case No. 2022GS4001884

State of South Carolina Respondent,

vs

Troy C. Stevenson, Jr., Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 229-5010
rauchwise@gmail.com
S.C. Bar No. 6188

Attorney for Appellant

Statement of Issues on Appeal

Question I: Did the trial court err in failing to suppress the testimony as to the alleged defective taillight of the black Honda Accord belonging to Ashley Carter when the disclosure was made at 1:17 P.M. through an email the day the trial started?

Question II: Did the trial judge err in failing to grant a directed verdict motion when the state failed to establish substantial circumstantial evidence to prove that Troy Stevenson was the person who fired the weapon or that he aided and abetted in firing a weapon?

Question III: Did the trial court err in charging the jury as to the law of the hand of one is the hand of all when the state introduced no evidence of any planning between two people and only speculative evidence, at best, that another person was involved?

Statement of the Case

Procedural History

Troy Christopher Stevenson, Jr. was arrested on May 12, 2021 for allegedly shooting into the residence of Charlie Jackson and killing him. He was charged with murder and the possession of a firearm while engaged in a violent crime. The shooting occurred on April 6, 2021. He was indicted on April 14, 2022, for those charges. Mr. Stevenson was tried before the Circuit Judge Daniel Coble and a jury from May 14 to May 23, 2024, in Richland County. He was convicted of murder and acquitted on the charge of the possession of a firearm while engaged in a violent crime.

Mr. Stevenson filed his Notice of Appeal on June 3, 2024.

Statement of the Facts

In the early morning hours of April 6, 2021, two houses in Richland County were shot with numerous gun shots. The first house, located at 2849 Lucille Drive, was the residence of the mother of Troy Stevenson. The shooting occurred about 2:11 A.M. No one was injured in this shooting incident. The second house was at 209 Devoe Drive, was the residence of the deceased, Charlie Jackson, and his daughter, Tamira Chasicia Jackson. This shooting occurred about 2:45 A.M.

Through the investigation, Troy Stevenson was developed as a suspect in part because the house of his mother had been shot. During the investigation, the investigator obtained records from various cell phone companies and different social media outlets. The investigation revealed that Dai'Juan Richardson was the shooter of the house on Lucille Drive. Early that evening he had been involved in a fight at the Lucille Drive house. ROA at 232, ll 19-20. While

investigating the shooting at Devoe Drive, a firearm was found belonging to Mr. Richardson. The shell casing and bullets from Lucille Drive matched the firearm found at Devoe Drive. ROA 919, ll 13-21. No shell casings were found at the Devoe Drive site. No weapon allegedly involved in the Devoe Drive shooting was ever recovered. ROA at 547, ll 2-16.

In searching the records of Mr. Stevenson, the investigators found a text message with the address of 209 Devoe Drive. ROA at 687, ll 15-19. Further, the cell tower records for Mr. Stevenson, placed him in the area of 209 Devoe Drive at the time of the shooting. Scott McDonald, the cell tower expert testified, "I can put it -- the arc from the cell site encompasses Devoe Drive. I cannot put that particular device at 209 Devoe Drive." ROA at 654, ll 8-9.

The video from door cameras near 209 Devoe Drive show a dark colored four door car going through the area at about the time of the shooting. State's Exhibit 48. Part of the video appears to show an automobile with the right rear break light not working. ROA at 566, ll 1-3.

The time of the shooting was established through the Shotspotter system. ROA at 688, 1 6. The testimony established that Ashley Carter, the girlfriend of Mr. Stevenson owned a black Honda Accord which Mr. Stevenson used at times. ROA at 478, ll 5-9. The Honda Accord was seized by the investigators on May 12, 2021. ROA at 478, ll 17-20. At the time of the trial, the automobile had not been returned to Ms. Carter. In examining the automobile, the investigators found no trace of gun shot residue. Jennifer Nates, the gunshot residue expert, stated, "So if it was from within that vehicle, yes, I would expect to find GSR deposited in that vehicle." ROA at 787, ll 8-9. As no shell casings were found at 209 Devoe Drive, the theory was the firing came from inside the automobile. ROA at 547, ll 12-15. The defense presented expert testimony that the bullets found at 209 Devoe Drive would most likely have been fired from one of two types of

rifles. ROA at 911, 117 to 912, 11. The State did not refute this testimony.

Aside from the cell tower information which placed Mr. Stevenson's phone in the vicinity of 209 Devoe Drive, no other forensic evidence placed Mr. Stevenson at the scene.

Standard of Review

As to Question I involving the suppression of the evidence or declaring a mistrial because of a late disclosure, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. "The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion."

State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)

As to Question II involving the failure to direct a verdict, the standard of review is de novo as the sufficiency of the facts to convict is a question of law. "[T]his Court reviews questions of law de novo." *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 647, 763 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2014)

As to Question III on charging the hand of one is the hand of all, the standard of review is abuse of discretion. "An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court committed an abuse of discretion." *Cole v. Raut*, 378 S.C. 398, 404, 663 S.E.2d 30, 33 (2008). In a criminal case, the Court should be aware that, "The standard for review of an ambiguous jury instruction is whether there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the challenged instruction in a way that violates the Constitution." *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000)

Argument

Question I:

Did the trial court err in failing to suppress the testimony as to the alleged defective taillight of the black Honda Accord belonging to Ashley Carter when the disclosure was made at 1:17 P.M. through an email the day the trial started?

On May 13, 2024 a pretrial hearing was conducted to resolve several issues including the delayed discovery disclosure. Motion filed May 13, 2024. This Motion was filed notwithstanding an order from Judge Jocelyn Newman from 2021 ordering discovery to be given to defense counsel. ROA at 1237.

The discussion on the motion for sanctions as to discovery violations was contentious. ROA at 163, ll 5-9. The trial judge, in denying the motion to dismiss for discovery violations said, as to his basis for suppressing any late discovery, “[I]f there is a reckless disregard, gross negligence by the State in keeping evidence away from the defense, that’s what I am looking for, something drastic of that nature.” ROA at 163, ll 22-25 In denying the Motion as to discovery violations the trial judge said, “However, that does not close the door to suppressing any particular evidence that was not turned over on a case-by-case basis, and at the end of the trial does not close the door to a potential spoliation charge to the jury depending on how this trial plays out.” ROA at 164, ll 10-14¹

The issue in this question first came to the surface when on the first full day of trial, defense counsel received an email from the assistant solicitor informing her that the State

¹ The comment about a spoliation instruction for the late disclosure of evidence is confusing.

intended to introduce evidence that the right rear brake light was out on automobile belonging to Ashley Carter, the girlfriend of Mr. Stevenson. This discussion occurred at 2:48 on the afternoon after the pre-trial hearing concerning the discovery violations. ROA at 344, 1 17 to 345, 1 15. At the hearing the previous day, the assistant solicitor advised the Court he had on April 2, 2024, sent defense counsel an email advising her, “We went to the impound lot to look at Ashley Carter’s black Honda last week.” ROA, 17, 11 14-16. Nothing in the email suggested the State had learned anything of significance as to the car. A defective right rear brake light was not mentioned. At no time during the May 13, 2024 hearing on discovery violations was any defect in the automobile of Ms. Carter mentioned.

During the discussion on May 14, 2024, the assistant solicitor stated, “In watching the video, it appears to me the brake light is out.” ROA at 347, 11 24-25. As a result, the defense counsel was given the opportunity to view the automobile after court adjourned for the day. At no time did the assistant solicitor advise the court when he observed the automobile or when he learned the brake light was out on the automobile of Ms. Carter. During the discussion, reference is made to an April 2, 2024, email from the assistant solicitor in which it is stated he viewed the automobile of Ms. Carter on that day. In response to that email, the defense counsel responded, “I would have liked to look at the evidence when you did since I have previously asked to see all the evidence. Please set up a viewing for me and my staff this week or provide me the number of the person I need to call to set up a viewing the evidence - - all the evidence that I previously requested to see, I have available time Thursday and Friday.” ROA at 345, 11 5-11. The trial judge then offered to facilitate a time for defense counsel to see the automobile if the parties were not able to agree, ROA at 348, 11 8-13.

The next day, the defense attorney requested a hearing as to several issues including the one involving the alleged defective automobile. ROA at 418, ll 11. Defense counsel started by marking as Court Exhibit 4, the email received by defense counsel that day as to the defective brake light. Defense counsel asked for the remedy to be dismissal of the charges. She argued, “[W]e would A, again reaffirm dismissal based on *Brady* violation. Two, and under *Riddle* it falls under the exculpatory - - or, inculpatory.” ROA at 418, ll 23-25.²

In moving to exclude any testimony as to any alleged defect as to the break light trial counsel noted, “That car’s been sitting there for three years in the custody and control of Richland County, and yesterday was the first time I learned about that.” ROA at 419, ll 8-11. While the automobile had been in impound for a few days over three years, the State never offered any testimony or documentation as to the condition of the automobile at the time it was seized. Apparently the automobile has also been left out in the elements. Whether the taillights or brake lights were working at the time of the seizure is not known.

In response, the assistant solicitor argued, “Upon retrospect yesterday I decided maybe it’s more of a Rule 5 issue, not a *Riddle* issue, and so having pondered that out of an abundance of caution I sent defense that information that we had gone out there - -and made the determination that that brake light was out.” ROA at 420, ll 2-7. The assistant solicitor did not state when he viewed the car and determined the brake light was out.

In ruling against the motion to suppress the evidence or dismiss the charges, the trial judge stated, “There was no high level of intent or reckless disregard, prosecutorial misconduct

² The reference to “*Riddle*” is apparently a reference to *Riddle v. Ozmint*, 369 S.C. 39, 631 S.E.2d 70 (2006)

as to your motion to suppress, and I'm denying that based on the curative issue of going to the impound last night." ROA at 421, ll 6-9. Subsequently, defense counsel asked the court to declare a mistrial, "based on all of these issues." ROA at 423, l 1.

In so ruling, the trial court erred as a matter of law and erred in reaching its factual conclusions. While the exact date the assistant solicitor first learned the automobile belonging to Ms. Carter had a defective taillight or brake light is not known, the assumption seems reasonable that this information was not learned from the afternoon of May 13, 2024 until 1:17 P.M. on May 14, 2024. The reasonable assumption is that the fact about the defective light was learned when the automobile was visited on April 2, 2024, the date the email states the assistant solicitor visited the impound lot.

Rule 5 of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provides:

Upon request of a defendant the prosecution shall permit the defendant to inspect and copy any results or reports of physical or mental examinations, and of scientific tests or experiments, or copies thereof, which are within the possession, custody, or control of the prosecution, the existence of which is known, or by the exercise of due diligence may become known, to the attorney for the prosecution, and which are material to the preparation of the defense or are intended for use by the prosecution as evidence in chief at the trial.

The testing of the automobile belonging to Ms. Carter would qualify as "scientific tests or reports" that should have been disclosed to defense counsel. The assistant solicitor appears to have acknowledge this when he stated, "out of an abundance of caution I sent defense that information" ROA at 420, ll 3-4. Two unanswered questions exist. Why was the information not sent on April 2, 2024 in the email sent shortly after this test result was learned? Why was it not mentioned on May 13, 2024 when a hearing was held as to the discovery violations? The only conclusion that can logically be reached is that the failure to disclose the

relevant information was either intentional or grossly negligent. When a hearing is being held on May 13 as to the failure of the State to promptly turn over discovery, to claim such failure to turn over the report of the April 2 visit was inadvertent simply stretches credibility too far.

Many states have addressed and wrestled with the remedy for the failure of the State to turn over discovery. *See, e.g. State v. Heath*, 696 S.W.3d 677 (Tex. Crim. App.); *State v. Lyons*, 211 N.E.3d 500 (Ind. 2023); *State v. Zuroweste*, 570 S.W.3d 51 (Mo. 2019); *State v. Aicklen*, 767 So. 2d 116 (La. App. 4 Cir. 2000); *Harris v. State*, 195 P.3d 161 (Alaska Ct. App. 2008); *Box v. State*, 437 So. 2d 19 (Miss. 1983); *Richardson v. State*, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971); *People v. Rubino*, 305 Ill. App. 3d 85, 711 N.E.2d 445 (1999). The courts have applied remedies from dismissal of the case, excluding the evidence or granting a continuance.

The first issue to be decided by this Court is whether Mr. Stevenson was prejudiced by the late disclosure. Prejudice in this context is different from the prejudice analysis when improper evidence is presented to the court. In *Richardson*, the Florida Supreme Court reversed the conviction because of the failure of the state to disclose the name of a witness, even though the witness did not testify at trial. In the case, the record did not even reflect if Dick Davis, the witness disclosed at trial, would have helped the defense. In reversing the case, the court said the trial court needed to determine, “what effect, if any, did it have upon the ability of the defendant to properly prepare for trial.” *Id.* at 775. Note the prejudice is in the ability of the defendant to prepare for trial and not any actual prejudice at trial. For this reason, the during trial opportunity to see the automobile does not eliminate the prejudice to Mr. Stevenson in preparing for trial.

The reason for this is simple. The issue at trial was whether the automobile shown on the videos belonged to Ashley Carter. No license plate was ever shown. In the video the automobile

is simply an ordinary four door dark colored four door that may be a Honda. When the state is able to take a unique feature of the automobile in the video and match it up to a unique feature in the automobile they had in the impound, then the defense strategy changes. This is a fact that must be accounted for during the trial. This late disclosure had an impact on the ability of defense counsel to prepare for trial. In *Richardson*, the court acknowledged “Dick Davis” was not called by the state and they further acknowledged, “[W]e should not speculate as to whether there was in fact such a witness as ‘Dick Davis’” *Id.* at 776. In this case, if given the opportunity and time, what would further investigation of the defective automobile show?

In deciding this issue, this Court, as the court in *Richardson* should not speculate if what could be learned may be helpful or may not be helpful. The point is, the late disclosure had an impact on the ability of defense counsel to prepare for trial. The late disclosure impacted trial strategy.

The record in this case does not establish whether the actions of the assistant solicitor in failing to disclose the information he learned about the automobile some six weeks before trial was wilful. The trial court did not make any inquiry as to when the assistant solicitor learned of the defective taillight or brake light nor why it was not promptly disclosed. A determination of willfulness is important to determine the proper sanction. “Trial courts maintain broad discretion to manage discovery and that includes sanctioning parties to enforce discovery rules and orders.” *Lyons* at 505.

In *Lyons*, the court noted:

For sanctions addressing a party's late disclosure of evidence, our cases have long recognized three governing principles: (1) we generally treat late disclosures the same whether the State or the defendant committed the discovery violation; (2)

the two typical remedies are to continue the trial or to exclude the evidence; and (3) we exclude evidence only if (a) that is the sole remedy available to avoid substantial unfair prejudice, or (b) the discovery violation was intentional, flagrant, in bad faith, or otherwise reprehensible.

Id. at 505-506

In *Harris*, Alaska Court of Appeals approved of the sanction of excluding the testimony of a defense witness because of the late disclosure of the required information as to the defense expert. The late disclosure was egregious. In holding the sanction was justified, the court said, “However, when a party fails to comply with a discovery obligation, the burden of proving non-willfulness is on the party who failed to comply.” *Id.* at 174. The same rule should apply in this case. A discovery violation by the State occurred. The State had the burden below and has the burden on this appeal to show the violation was non-willful. No evidence in this record establishes the violation was non-willful.

While South Carolina does not have established case law as to the failure to comply with criminal discovery rules, there are many cases involving violation of civil discovery rules. As the protection of a defendant’s liberty is as important as the protection of a defendant’s purse, the civil rules should establish the bottom level of protection of a criminal defendant. In a civil case this Court has said, “The rights of discovery provided by the Rules give the trial lawyer the means to be prepared for trial. Where these rights are not accorded, prejudice must be presumed and, unless the party who has failed to submit to discovery can show a lack of prejudice, reversal is required.” *Downey v. Dixon*, 294 S.C. 42, 46, 362 S.E.2d 317, 319 (Ct. App. 1987). In this case the assistant solicitor never attempted to show the defendant was not prejudiced.

In *Richardson v. Twenty-One Thousand and No/100 Dollars*, 430 S.C. 594, 856 S.E.2d 14 (2020), the plaintiff failed to respond to any of the discovery requests of the defendant. The

trial judge imposed no sanctions on the plaintiff and allowed the case to proceed. This Court held the trial judge should have simply continued the case to allow the defendant to receive the requested discovery. As this court noted, the continuance would allow “White to assess its strength and if necessary, reconsider his trial strategy.” *Id.* at 601, 846 S.E.2d at 17. This Court in *Richardson* did not require the party who did not receive the discovery to show prejudice. This Court, citing *Downy*, simply held prejudice was presumed as the offending party did not prove the defendant was not prejudiced.

The same rules should apply in this case. No logical reason exists to give less protection to a defendant in a criminal case than is afforded a defendant in a civil case. In a criminal case there is more need to afford a defendant even greater protections. Mr. Stevenson is not in this case arguing for more protections than a civil defendant, just the same protections.

Our supreme court, citing *Wright v. Royse*, 43 Ill.App.2d 267, 193 N.E.2d 340 (1963) said:

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