RECEIVED

Jan 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Honorable Danile Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000890

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

TROY CHRISTOPHER STEVENSON, JR.,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYLEE C. KEMP
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 107073

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

BRYON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Discussion:

A trial court abuses its discretion in denying relief on a discovery motion if its "order is controlled by an error of law or when there is no evidentiary support for the trial court's factual conclusions." *State v. Daise*, 421 S.C. 442, 463, 807 S.E.2d 710, 721 (Ct. App. 2017) (quoting *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 537, 787 S.E.2d 485, 495 (2016) (citation omitted)). Review of the trial court's factual basis for the ruling is deferential: "Appellate courts are bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law." *State v. Amerson*,

311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993) (citing *City of Chester v. Addison*, 277 S.C. 179, 284 S.E.2d 579 (1981)).

Here, Appellant argues that the trial court abused its discretion when the court failed to suppress testimony related to the defective brake light identified on Carter's black Honda Accord when the prosecution notified the defense on the first day of trial that the Honda had a defective taillight. The day before the start of trial, the trial judge ordered that the parties arrange for defense counsel to view the Honda in the impound lot. The next afternoon, the prosecution notified defense counsel that the Honda had a defective brake light and also sent other documents that she requested the day prior.

In arguing the motion to dismiss, and alternatively to suppress any mention of the defective brake light, defense counsel relied on *Brady* and *Riddle* in asserting that the prosecution intentionally kept the information from her. In denying the motion to suppress, the trial judge determined that issue was remedied considering defense counsel was able to see the Honda the night before, and that "there was no high level of intent or reckless disregard, prosecutorial misconduct as to your motion to suppress." (R. p. 421). Appellant appears to rely on the requirements of Rule 5 to support his argument, arguing that the prosecution's failure to disclose the relevant information was either intentional or grossly negligent," (*see* BOA at 8-9) and that the defense strategy would have changed had the information been disclosed. (*See* BOA at 10). Notably, defense counsel did not explicitly specify what section of Rule 5 she was basing her argument.

The evidence in question is the black Honda Accord that was located at the impound lot, and more specifically, that the vehicle had a defective taillight. Rule 5(a)(1)(C) requires:

Upon request of the defendant the prosecution shall permit the defendant to inspect and copy books, papers, documents,

photographs, tangible objects, buildings or places, or copies or portions thereof, which are within the possession, custody or control of the prosecution, and which are material to the preparation of his defense or are intended for use by the prosecution as evidence in chief at the trial, or were obtained from or belong to the defendant.

“Evidence is material ... ‘only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A ‘reasonable probability’ is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *State v. Cain*, 297 S.C. 497, 503, 377 S.E.2d 556, 559 (1988) (citing *Bagley*, 473 U.S. at 682). To be sure, Appellant knew the “object” at issue was the black Honda Accord and knew where the vehicle was located. That alone should be sufficient to show no error. Further, there was no discovery issue regarding the video footage depicting the vehicle in question. Even so, the materiality definition used in *Brady* is used in the same context for purposes of Rule 5. *State v. Kennerly*, 331 S.C. 442, 453, 503 S.E.2d 214, 220 (Ct. App. 1998), *aff’d*, 337 S.C. 617, 524 S.E.2d 837 (1999). “In a *Brady* analysis, information is not deemed “material” if the defense discovers the information in time to adequately use it at trial.” *Id.*

“Once a Rule 5 violation is shown, reversal is required only where the defendant suffered prejudice from the violation.” *Id.*, 331 S.C. at 453-454 (citing *State v. Trotter*, 322 S.C. 537, 473 S.E.2d 452 (1996); *State v. Wilkins*, 310 S.C. 81, 425 S.E.2d 68 (Ct.App.1992)). The requirements of Rule 5 are to ensure a criminal defendant receives a “fair trial” by requiring production of documents that are material to the preparation of his or her defense. Failure to disclose information only warrants a reversal if prejudice stemmed from the nondisclosure such that it deprived the defendant of a fair trial. *State v. Gathers*, 295 S.C. 476, 369 S.E.2d 140 (1988), *aff’d*, 490 U.S. 805, 109 S. Ct. 2207, 104 L. Ed. 2d 876 (1989).

Simply stated, the evidence here is not material for purposes of Rule 5. The information was provided to defense counsel prior to the presentation of testimony, albeit the first day of trial, regarding the defective taillight. The evidence was not exculpatory considering it was used to connect Appellant to the vehicle caught on video footage to Carter's vehicle that was ultimately identified as the same vehicle and would not have aided in his defense. Defense counsel did not ask Carter or Investigator Jordan any questions regarding the broken taillight. In closing, defense counsel was adequately able to contest the information, noting the length of time the vehicle had been located at the impound lot:

Ashley Carter was hounded over, and over, and over about the two different vehicles. This vehicle, which we know is at the impound lot, again, that we don't have a picture of showing the broken taillight. They want to say, well, it was broken. But Investigator Holt's report, who examined that car the day they got it in May of 2021, doesn't mention that in here. We don't have any pictures of that so we just have to take Investigator Jordan's word on it.

(R. p. 1167-1168).

Thus, no Rule 5 violation occurred. Even if this Court interprets the trial judge's ruling to remedy the delayed disclosure as a Rule 5 violation regarding the broken brake light rather than the access to view the Honda at the impound lot, it is within the judge's discretion to determine the appropriate remedy. *State v. King*, 367 S.C. 131, 138, 623 S.E.2d 865, 868 (Ct. App. 2005).

Appellant speculates that he was prejudiced because the defense strategy would have changed had the information been provided earlier. Standing alone, the assertion cannot be considered sufficient considering it was not helpful to the defense and was not any more incriminating than the CSLI records and Facebook messages that were used to place Appellant at the scene at the time of the shooting. Even if the delayed disclosure is considered to be a Rule 5

violation, it could not have reasonably prejudiced Appellant to the extent, if at all, that he was denied his right to a fair trial.

In large part, Appellant's argument is based on the premise that the prosecution's failure to disclose the relevant information was either intentional or grossly negligent. (*See* BOA at 8-9). Appellant alleges that the trial judge should have inquired further into when the prosecution learned of the defective brake light and why the information was not disclosed to the defense when it was discovered. (*See* BOA at 8-9). Appellant overlooks the relevant materiality of the evidence and instead asserts that prejudice should be presumed considering the violation – absent an argument supporting that a Rule 5 violation occurred. Even so, Appellant fails to recognize the discretionary power of the court and further fails to demonstrate how the trial judge abused his discretion in this matter considering he cannot establish the appropriate prejudice.

II. The trial judge properly followed controlling law when he denied the defense's motion for directed verdict given there was evidence, if believed, to support each of the charges thus requiring the case to be submitted to the jury.

Relevant Facts:

After the State rested, Appellant renewed several motions and also made a motion for a directed verdict. (R. p. 751). Appellant argued: "There has been no testimony that any sort of weapon, any sort of ammunition, any sort of anything was found, or related, or connected to Mr. Stevenson. And so we would ask, that given the very circumstantial nature of this evidence, that a verdict be granted in this case." (R. p. 751-752). The State noted the compressed timeframe from Appellant's learning of the Lucille Drive shooting, calling about the shooting and receiving information on the shooting including the victim's home address, the video showing a black Honda connected to Appellant at the Devoe residence at the time of the shooting, and cell phone location information that is consistent with Appellant's phone traveling to the scene of the murder. (R. p. 752-754). The judge found that reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and considering the existence of evidence and not its weight, the motion would be denied. (R. 755).

Appellant simply renewed the motion at the close of the defense case. (R. p. 1072-1073). Appellant argued that "the evidence does not comply with Rule 19(b), SCCrimP and rises to the level of substantial circumstantial evidence in this case." (R. p. 1073). The trial court found that "evidence still exists in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party" sufficient to defeat the motion. (R. p. 1073). Appellant generally renewed the motion again after presentation of the State's reply. (R. p. 1089). After the verdict, Appellant again generally renewed the prior motions. (R. p. 1217-1218).

Discussion:

“If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused,” an appellate court “must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001) (citing *State v. Pinckney*, 339 S.C. 346, 529 S.E.2d 526 (2000)). In conducting a review of the record in context of a directed verdict issue, appellate courts must “consider[] the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.” *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 235, 781 S.E.2d 352, 353 (2016) (quoting *State v. Butler*, 407 S.C. 376, 381, 755 S.E.2d 457, 460 (2014)). Further, “review is limited to considering the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 593, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478-79 (2004)). Essentially, “the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight” and so is the appellate court in review. *State v. Bailey*, 368 S.C. 39, 44–45, 626 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2006).

Appellant submits that he was entitled to a directed verdict in his favor because (1) the evidence did not show that he had a weapon that could have been used in the shooting; and (2) the evidence only showed his cell phone in the area at the time of the shooting, not Appellant personally. (BOA at 14). Appellant is wrong both in his legal analysis and his factual arguments.

Initially, Appellant’s argument on the law overlooks or misapprehends the law. Appellant asserts he is entitled to a *de novo* review of a question of law. (BOA at 4). However, the question of submission of the case is a fact-intensive inquiry, not a standalone application of law. At bottom, the inquiry on appeal is virtually the same as in the lower court—whether *evidence exists* to support the elements of the crime, and here, of accomplice liability. *Bailey, supra*. See also SCRCrimP 19(a) (“On motion of the defendant or on its own motion, the court shall direct a verdict in the defendant’s favor on any offense charged in the indictment after the evidence on either side is closed, if there is a failure of competent evidence tending to prove the charge in the indictment.

In ruling on the motion, the trial judge shall consider only the existence or non-existence of the evidence and not its weight.”).

Appellant’s argument that some different standard may be available is not supported in our controlling case law. Appellant concedes that our Supreme Court has recognized that review of a directed verdict issue “is necessarily fact-intensive[.]” (BOA at 15, quoting *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016)). Further, he recognizes our Court has expressly instructed that such cases are “limited to their particular facts.” *Id.* However, Appellant’s argument that our Court has not adequately explained its rulings on the standard of review, and, as such, the existing standard of review essentially restricts appellate courts “from looking objectively at all the evidence and concluding there is a reasonable explanation of innocence” misses the mark—by a wide margin. Indeed, *Bennett* soundly rejects that argument.

In *Bennet*, our court considered the review necessary and not only addressed but expressly rejected the same type of argument Appellant forwards; that courts should “look for an alternative explanation” other than guilt. (*See* BOA at 16). Our Court resolved that the argument is directly contrary to our longstanding state jurisprudence:

As this Court clarified in *State v. Littlejohn*, 228 S.C. 324, 89 S.E.2d 924 (1955), the lens through which a court considers circumstantial evidence when ruling on a directed verdict motion is distinct from the analysis performed by the jury. Within the jury's inquiry, “it is necessary that every circumstance relied upon by the state be proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and that all of the circumstances so proven be consistent with each other and, taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis.” *Id.* at 328, 89 S.E.2d at 926. However, when ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must submit the case to the jury if there is “any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.” *Id.* at 329, 89 S.E.2d at 926. Therefore, although the *jury* must consider alternative hypotheses, the *court* must concern itself solely with the existence

or non-existence of evidence from which a jury could reasonably infer guilt. This objective test is founded upon reasonableness.

Bennett, 415 S.C. at 236–37, 781 S.E.2d at 354 (emphasis in original).

To the extent Appellant suggests another standard is available even though our Supreme Court has instructed otherwise, this Court must reject Appellant’s argument. *See* S.C. Const. art. V, § 9 (“The decisions of the Supreme Court shall bind the Court of Appeals as precedents.”).

Appellant also argues our Court has not defined “substantial circumstantial evidence,” while undermining fair consideration. (*See* BOA at 16). Yet, it would appear that a close reading of our precedent does support guidance to the reviewing courts where circumstantial evidence is at issue: “If the state has presented ‘any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence *reasonably tending to prove* the guilt of the accused,’ this Court must affirm the trial court’s decision to submit the case to the jury.” *State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013) (quoting *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 593-94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004)). Simple “suspicion” is not enough. *Hepburn*, 406 S.C. at 429, 753 S.E.2d at 409 (quoting *Cherry*, 361 S.C. at 593, 606 S.E.2d at 478). Again, our courts have long recognized that the “objective test is founded upon reasonableness.” *Bennett*, 415 S.C. at 237, 781 S.E.2d at 354. To put a fine point on it, the analysis boils down to “whether the evidence presented *is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror* to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Appellant’s argument that South Carolina’s standard is infirm as it suggests *any* evidence will defeat the motion does not square with a plain reading of the precedent.

Further, Appellant errs in his argument on the facts. As a general point, Appellant appears to argue that which is reserved for the jury, *i.e.*, what evidence should be believed. (*See* BOA at 14-17). That simply is not the inquiry to be made here. More specifically, Appellant has argued that the “record is barren of any evidence of an agreement,” so that the jury could use accomplice

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